

# Interpretative Visual Analysis Developments, State of the Art and Pending Problems

Bernt Schnettler & Jürgen Raab

Key words: visual sociology; history of interpretative research; video; sociological hermeneutics; genre analysis **Abstract**: The article offers a brief resume of recent developments in the field of interpretative visual analysis with emphasis on the German speaking area and the sociological discipline. It lays a special focus on hermeneutical and genre analysis and on research with audiovisual data. Far from constituting an already closed field, the authors stress the fact that methodological advances in qualitative research based in visual data still face a number of pending quests. This encompasses sequentiality, complexity and naturalness of videographic data, and extends to the respective methodological challenges for transcription, analysis and presentation of results.

#### **Table of Contents**

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Interpretative Visual Analysis: Precursors, Development and State of the Art
- 3. The Role of Video-Analysis for Qualitative Research
- 4. Desiderates and Future Challenges for Interpretative Video-Analysis
  - 4.1 Mimetic properties and constructedness
  - 4.2 Complexity
  - 4.3 Naturalness
  - 4.4 Sequentiality
  - 4.5 Transcription and analysis
  - 4.6 Technical and legal restrictions
- 5. Conclusion

References

**Authors** 

Citation

#### 1. Introduction

This text begins with a brief resume of the history and development of visual analysis in qualitative research (2), followed by a section in which we discuss the special contribution of video to the field (3). Consequently, and in order to emphasise the ongoing process of developing both adequate and practical methods, we close with some reflections on desiderates and future challenges for Interpretative Visual Analysis (4, 5). [1]

# 2. Interpretative Visual Analysis: Precursors, Development and State of the Art

The particular properties and possibilities of visual data have been extensively used in the social sciences since the midst of the 19th century, especially in social and cultural anthropology, ethnology and folklore studies. Progressively, technically produced visualisations began to substitute for handcrafted illustrations added to ethnographic texts in order to visualise, animate and illustrate scientific documents (THEYE, 1989). The dynamics within the fast establishing classical field of *Visual Anthropology*, conceived as media supported field work, disembogued in widely known methodical approaches such as for example those of BATESON and MEAD (1942), MEAD (1975), COLLIER (1967, 1979) or, more recently, COLLIER and COLLIER (1986). [2]

In sociology, examples of visual documentation usage can be already found between 1903 and 1915, when the American Journal of Sociology published photo plates in a series of articles either as illustrations or as documentary proof (see for example BRECKINRIDGE & ABOTH, 1910; MACLEAN, 1903; WALKER, 1915; WOODHEAD, 1904). After 1916, however, the increasing influence of statistical methods induced an abrupt substitution of photos by formula, charts and tables as the predominant form of appropriate scientific illustration (STASZ, 1979). Thus, important projects, situated beyond the margins of academic disciplines, proved to be decisive for the further development. For example, the famous photo-documentation on the precarious condition of mid-western rural inhabitants in the US, commissioned by the Department of Agriculture and carried out by the Farm Security Administration (EVANS, 1973; RUSINOV, 1942; LEICHT, 2006; MORA & BRANNAN, 2006), were inspired by ethnological and anthropological concepts and methods. They pursued explicitly the goal of establishing Visual Sociology as a new discipline in its own right. Despite these early attempts, Visual Sociology in the proper sense was not being founded until the 1970s (CHEATWOOD & STASZ, 1979; SCHÄNDLINGER, 1998; STUMBERGER, 2007). For the first time, visual data, its production, analysis and presentation were set up as core tasks within one significant discipline in the social sciences. [3]

Its areas of research were circumscribed mainly by social problems (minorities, marginal groups, underclass environments), the analysis of role behaviour (e.g. in families) and the field of urban sociology (BECKER, 1981, 1986). *Visual Sociology* reached its point of culmination during the 1980s, when several international journals were published on a regular basis, consecutive major conferences were held and a series of important anthologies were published. Introductory books for student came out, backed up with didactical guidebooks for teaching, and several Universities in the US offered special courses and graduate seminars to teach *Visual Sociology* in theory and practice (cf. CURRY, 1984; CURRY & CLARKE, 1978; HENNEY, 1986) But despite the enormous efforts to broaden the field of *Visual Sociology* (CAUFIELD, 1996; HARPER, 1988, 1996) and to assure its institutional basis as an autonomous, specialised discipline within academic sociology, its authority was pushed back from the end

of 1980s onwards, mainly by the increasingly popular and pervasive project of *Cultural Studies* and its corollaries, which had great success especially in the Anglo-Saxon academic communities. Also, the growing appeal of media studies and mass media research (CHAPLIN, 1994; LONG, 1997; MIKOS, 1999) diminished its strength. Likewise, in Germany attempts to institute *Visual Anthropology* or *Visual Sociology* following the American examples met the same fate (BALLHAUS, 1985; TAUREG, 1984, 1986; TECKENBURG, 1982; WUGGENIGG, 1990/91), symptomatically represented by fact that the corresponding entry "Visuelle Soziologie" (BERGHAUS, 1989) appeared in the first, but was not included in the German Dictionary of Sociology's subsequent editions (compare ENDRUWEIT & TROMMSDORFF, 2002 to ENDRUWEIT & TROMMSDORFF, 1989). [4]

Parallel to the precursors of Visual Sociology, researchers became increasingly aware of the pervasive impact of mass media on society during the 1940s and 1950s. Roosevelt's victory in the presidential campaign in 1932, the effects of Orson Welles radio drama "War of the Worlds" in 1938 or the deliberate use of film for propagandistic purpose by the fascist regimes of Hitler and Mussolini activated broad empirical research and theoretical reasoning on open and covert, explicit and implicit media effects like seduction, manipulation, and demagogy (MERTON, 1946; PACKARD, 1958). Political and commercial advertising was subjected to significant observation, and it was in this context, when Marshall McLUHAN formulated his favourite thesis on communication that "the medium is the message" (McLUHAN, 1964). Ultimately, the audiovisual media coverage about the Vietnam War strikingly demonstrated the pervasive influence that politically relevant images and copious public circulation exerts on public audiences in modern mediated societies. [5]

In the growing field of social research on media reception and content studies (BONFADELLI, 1980), one of the major preoccupations were directed to study the forms of media production and consumption rapidly disseminated throughout all segments of modern society and present in all social strata. These studies focused primarily on media's socialisation effects and gave special attention to violence. But some qualitative studies followed narrower paths away from the broad motorways of normal science, studying the use of cameras in everyday life, decisively propagated from the 1960s onwards by the popularisation of cameras (BOURDIEU et al., 1965/1981) or the similarly increasing dissemination of commercial advertisements, which began to infiltrate people's lives around that period (GOFFMAN, 1979). They discovered mundane aestheticisation practices which varied markedly from milieu to milieu and stereotyped medial forms of presenting gender, respectively. Subsequently, research topics were extended to the study of particular popular television genres and their corresponding presentational form, like commercials (KOTELMANN & MIKOS, 1981), news (KEPPLER, 1985), films (KEPPLINGER, 1987), or daily soaps (RÖSSLER, 1988). [6]

The end of "mass production" (PIORE & SABEL, 1989) in the economy at large and in consumer culture in particular also had severe effects on the "reality of

mass media" (LUHMANN, 1995): Social differentiation in milieus, the fragmentation of media audiences into segments and multiple target audiences, along with an increasing "democratisation" of the communication media closed down the hitherto dominant "sociology of mass communication's" era (HUNZIKER, 1988; MALETZKE, 1988). Individualisation and the imminent rise of a communication society with multiple options translocated many of the former approaches under the increasingly compelling broad umbrella of the new *Cultural Studies* (CHAPLIN, 1994; LONG, 1997; MIKOS, 1999). [7]

Following the *cultural turn*, post-disciplinary projects within the Anglo-Saxon *Cultural Studies*, strived for the constitution of a "novel cultural science of images" [Bildkulturwissenschaft] (HOLERT, 2000) under the "umbrella heading" *Visual Culture* and *Visual Studies* (BRYSON, MOXEY & HOLLY, 1991; EVANS & HALL, 1999; JENKS, 1995; MIRZOEFF, 1999; 1998; STURKEN & CARTWRIGHT, 2001; WALKER & CHAPLIN, 1997). Besides repeated criticisms concerning both its implicit socio-political claims and the insufficient methodological instruments of discourse analysis (BAL, 2002), one of its indisputable merits was understanding that professional and scientific realms, as well as everyday and occupational activities, are realised through and depend increasingly on audiovisual media. [8]

This idea bears decisive consequences for current research on, and with, visual and audiovisual data. It implies that professional understanding in sociology—that is: analysis and interpretation—not only with respect to its research objects and its social fields, but also in conceptual, methodological and methodical terms has to supersede and develop beyond "classical" notions of sociological media and communications research (cf. paradigmatically ALBRECHT, 1991; or recently: DENZIN, 2000; HUNZIKER, 1988; LEEUWEN & JEWITT, 2001; LOIZOS, 2000; ROSE, 2000). However, methodical traditions and competence in analysing visual and audiovisual data remains underdeveloped and deficient in Sociology, compared, for example, to the longstanding and well-establish tradition of ethnological film in Anthropology. At best, one has to recall the work of Ray BIRDWHISTELL (1970), who was one of Erving GOFFMAN's teachers, or Albert SCHEFLEN and Adam KENDON's "context analysis" (KENDON 1990). Building upon and continuing the trendsetting studies of the Palo-Alto-group, composed by Frieda FROMM-REICHMANN, Margaret MEAD and Gregory BATESON, who analysed a short clip (the "Doris-film"), and a second strand, the Natural History Approaches (PITTINGER, HOCKETT & DANEHY, 1960), BIRDWHISTELL, SCHEFLEN and KENDON developed a way of analysing interaction which can be denominated as sociological in the strict sense. Whereas EKMAN and FRIESEN's (1969) path-breaking studies in Psychology were concerned with individual forms of emotional display, they focused in their studies with film on social interaction, a subject that is also studied in Comparative Ethology, although under a different methodological orientation (EIBL-EIBESLFELDT, SCHIEVELHÖVEL & HEESCHEN, 1989). [9]

The gradual introduction and social dissemination of video technologies at the turn of the 1980s provided for a manifest expansion of research objects and a substantial increase of analytical facilities. Whilst in Psychology, predominantly

standardising and quantifiable methods were established (KOCH & ZUMBACH, 2002; MITTENECKER, 1987), in Sociology a strong orientation toward qualitative methods of video-analysis developed, as a way of returning to the classical issues and tasks of interaction research. GOODWIN's seminal studies (1981, 1986), in which he applied video-analysis to interaction phenomena, thus far exclusively studied with acoustic means, systematically explored the role of visual aspects for interactions. At the same time, Christian HEATH (1986) published his video-analysis of doctor-patient interactions. Heath's work was pivotal for the foundation of a new research area, focusing on interaction in high-tech work environments using video analysis: usually known as Workplace Studies (HEATH, KNOBLAUCH & LUFF, 2000). He is among the few who have developed new methodological principals and original methods of video-analysis (HEATH, 1997; HEATH & HINDMARSH, 2002). The studies of Lucy SUCHMAN played an important role in the creation of the Workplace Studies, for example with her research on airports, in which connected activities, in four dislocated but interlinked work areas, were videotaped and analysed (SUCHMAN & TRIGG, 1991). Control centres, operation rooms and surveillance headquarters were extensively studied, recently Workplace Studies has oriented to other fields like interaction in museums, galleries and auctions (HEATH & VOM LEHN, 2004), hospitals and operation theatres (SCHUBERT, 2002, 2006a), architectural offices and scientific laboratories (AMANN & KNORR CETINA, 1988; MOHN, 2002). Also, several reflexive methods have been applied. HOLLIDAY (2000), for example, asked her research subjects to operate the camcorder on their own and document their everyday activities as video diaries. In a cognate area—the sociology of work—the visual sociology in France evolved, even founding a new journal ("Champ Visuelles") (LACOSTE, 1997). Of special importance for videoanalysis are the studies of MONDADA (2003, 2005). [10]

The advancement of methodology and methods has been dominated recently—besides those derived from semiotics (for example BARTHES, 1985; ECO, 1985; see also the criticism in HAHN, 1991; JAYYUSI, 1988; METZ, 1972)—mainly by a tradition following the communicative paradigm in the new sociology of knowledge (KNOBLAUCH, 1996; LUCKMANN, 1997, 2006a) building on sociolinguistics and extending this approach to the analysis and interpretation of audiovisual data. The theory of communicative genre, originally developed for the interpretation of oral genres (GÜNTHNER & KNOBLAUCH, 1995; KNOBLAUCH & LUCKMANN, 2004; LUCKMANN, 1986) was translated into a method for research on mass media forms of communication and applied to the values, activity pattern, differences in status and gender, the aesthetic styles of different milieu, and worldviews (AYASS, 1997; KEPPLER, 1985; KNOBLAUCH & RAAB, 2001; WILLEMS, 1999). [11]

Around the same time as GOODWIN and HEATH, LUCKMANN and GROSS initiated a project using video data for interaction research (LUCKMANN & GROSS, 1977), which gave rise to the concept of interaction scores (BERGMANN, LUCKMANN & SOEFFNER, 1993; LUCKMANN, 2006b), taken up recently by video-hermeneutics (RAAB & TÄNZLER, 2006; RAAB, 2008). Also, within the hermeneutical tradition, initially applied mainly for the interpretation of

texts and conversations, this methodological approach progressively turned to other materials, as images and forms of visual mise en scenes, indexing the historically changing forms of expression, perception and presentation that are beyond oral conversation and texts. This notion was taken up in different hermeneutical approaches, like structural hermeneutics (ENGLISCH, 1991; HAUPERT, 1994; LOER, 1994; MÜLLER-DOOHM, 1993, 1997; TYKWER, 1992), hermeneutical sociology of knowledge (HITZLER & BARTH, 1996; PFADENHAUER, 2001; REICHERTZ, 1994; 2000; 2001), or sociological hermeneutics (RAAB, 2001, 2002; RAAB, GRUNERT & LUSTIG, 2001; RAAB & TÄNZLER, 1999, 2002; 2006; SOEFFNER, 2000, 2001; SOEFFNER & RAAB, 2004; TÄNZLER, 2000, 2001) and similar approaches, which try to synthesise the aforementioned and other approaches and methods within a general theoretical sociology of knowledge frame (BERGMANN et al., 1993; BOHNSACK, 2001, 2005, 2008; GUSCHKER, 2001; SCHNETTLER, 2001). In the meantime, videoanalysis has been extended to other areas of social research. Videography (SCHUBERT, 2006a, 2006b) focuses on technological usage in professional contexts and the forms of interaction and interactivity between human and technical devices. Video is also applied in other institutional areas, such as interaction in schools and educational institutions, social gatherings or theatrical events, and performative interactions (WAGNER-WILLI, 2006; WULF et al., 2001). [12]

Another important segment is video-based communication technologies, which are employed in long distance communication (KÖRSCHEN, POHL, SCHMITZ & SCHULTE, 2002) among which video-conference are probably the best known. Despite great expectations, it has not matched its exorbitant future promises because of serious technical problems and the constrictions of mediated communication. But the incipient subsequent technological leap including UMTS might stimulate a dramatic shift in communication usage, including video-messaging-services and mobile video-based communication, although expectations concerning a supposed "perpetual visual contact" (KOSKINEN, 2004) as facilitated by new technological devices like visually supported mobile phones may remain an unachievable future vision. However, the production and usage of moving images, for the purposes of communication, challenges users by generating a series of novel opportunities and problems, which may be properly studied by social scientists with the aid of videographic inquiry. [13]

Finally, video-analysis was propelled forward by another important change in public use and application of visual technologies, which in Germany was introduced first with a certain reticence, but has then pervaded rapidly into vast segments of the public, commercial, and even the private sphere: video-surveillance and CCTV systems. These systems were set up to record, sometimes to collect and store, video data in diverse settings like observation centres and control rooms, where video recordings are systematically sifted and analysed. Beyond important ethical and legal implications, methodical question and challenges for sociological analysis arise from that practice, with respect to the extraction and combination of images, above all concerning how images are

to be interpreted, especially with respect to its relevancies for inducing decisions and orientations subsequent action (FISKE, 1998; FYFE, 1999). [14]

# 3. The Role of Video-Analysis for Qualitative Research

Video-cameras, camcorders and webcams offer novel modes of data collection for the social sciences. These devices do not only allow for a comprehensive documentation of social action and interaction. Moreover, they provide researchers with new qualities and quantities of data. Therefore, some authors have euphorically proclaimed a "Video-Revolution" for the social sciences (SECRIST, De KOEYER, BELL & FOGEL, 2002), given the possibility of recording and analysing interactive processes with a high level of detail and, simultaneously, from different perspectives, in order to subject them to microscopic scrutiny. It is argued that this technological advance might induce a similar innovative force in the methods of interaction research that the invention and popularisation of audio-recording devices did, some decades before, for the rise of ethnomethodological studies in conversation analysis (GARFINKEL, 1967; TEN HAVE, 1999; SACKS, SCHEGLOFF & JEFFERSON, 1973). [15]

The omnipresence of video in our culture is striking. However, despite the wide diffusion and general acceptance of video-recordings both within current everyday life and a series of institutional areas within our society, the related scientific research with video data continues to advance relatively slowly. Although video-data is gaining growing relevance for qualitative studies, the development of adequate and convenient methods still remains in its initial phase (see however the contributions collected in KNOBLAUCH, SCHNETTLER, RAAB & SOEFFNER, 2006), despite the flourishing theoretical effort dedicated to visuality, and reasoning on visual culture in Humanities and in Social Sciences. Although there are already a wide array of existing methodological approaches for visual data in general (cf. for example BANKS & MORPHY, 1997; DAVIES, 1999; EMMISON & SMITH, 2000; HESSLER, 2005; PINK, 2001), there is considerably less methodological debate about the specifics of video-data. Note that, for example, in Visual Ethnography, video-analysis plays only a secondary role (PINK, 2007) or is simply neglected (ROSE, 2007). [16]

Nonetheless, Video-data is already employed in a wide array of research areas within the social sciences and especially in qualitative studies. Today, video-analysis is used in studies such as medical interactions, (HEATH, 1986), in visual ethnographies of work and technology (KNOBLAUCH, 2000), in workplace studies focusing on highly mechanised centres of coordination like airport control rooms (GOODWIN & GOODWIN, 1996), underground subways (HEATH & LUFF, 1996) and other areas of the famous Anglo-Saxon "workplace studies" (HEATH, LUFF & KNOBLAUCH, 2004; LUFF, HINDMARSH & HEATH, 2000) or in the study of tele-cooperation (MEIER, 1998). Video-analysis is also applied in diverse areas like religion (BERGMANN et al., 1993; SCHNETTLER, 2001), medical sociology (MONDADA, 2003, SCHUBERT, 2006c), interaction in schools (AUFSCHNAITER & WELZEL, 2001), in museums and art galleries (HEATH & VOM LEHN, 2004; VOM LEHN, 2006), in auctions (HEATH & LUFF, 2007), in

studies of technology and innovation (RAMMERT & SCHUBERT, 2006), in memory research (BAER, 2005) or in applied qualitative market research (SCHMID, 2006), to name but a few selected examples of a rapidly increasing area within qualitative studies. [17]

The fact of video's popularity is, however, framed by a number of fundamental methodological questions which have not been discussed to the extent a proper methodological debate would require in order to allow a conscious and professional legitimated application of this new research instrument. Among the most demanding problems pending are questions like: what characteristics and properties of video data are to be taken into consideration by social scientists at the different stages of the research process? Do we have to distinguish between different types and qualities of video data? What expertise do we already have at our disposal in recording, preparing, transcribing, analysing, interpreting and presenting audiovisual data? Despite the growing interest in visual research in general, there has been relatively little debate on the specific methodological demands of interpretative video analysis. [18]

Interpretative video-analysis is a quite recent, though rapidly expanding innovation in social science methodology. Today, it is used in a wide range of fields in sociology and cognate disciplines. Apparently, video data shows a number of benefits for social research. Video seemingly conveys insights into unknown features of the social world. It provides researchers with comprehensive recordings of the successive unfolding of social interactions and with detailed audio-visual data of their embedding in existing social situations, settings and worlds. [19]

Visual analysis' current condition in sociology and related disciplines calls for an advancement of the reasoning on adequate methods and proper theoretical approaches, because the social sciences have—at best—marginalised visual data, if not neglected them. There are two main reasons which might explain this underestimation and the corresponding poor level of qualitative methodology and methods with respect to an understanding and interpretation of images: Firstly, the impact of a substantial prehistory of social scientists' self-restriction to language and texts while simultaneously disregarding the veracity, expression, the formative and narrative power of images (GOODY, 1981; GOODY, WATT & GOUGH, 1986). Certainly, images were conceived as warrants for the dissemination of traditions, beliefs and knowledge during centuries in our culture —and certainly not only in our culture—even if they were not accompanied by any text (GOMBRICH, 1984). Distrust in the allegedly insurmountable ambiguity of images arises at the time when literacy and texts became warrants of intersubjectivity and "objectivity", because not only in the process of focalisation on text, reading image interpretation skills were progressively lost, but there was also a relative blindness initially towards the multiple meanings or ambivalence of texts. [20]

A second reason lies in the different "nature" of images and texts. This difference has been already emphasised by Karl MANNHEIM (1964) from a sociology of

knowledge perspective and this distinction was taken up by Susanne K. LANGER (1941), a disciple of Ernst CASSIRER, with categories she denominates as "discursive" vs. "presentational symbolism". LANGER maintains that language is characterised by the fact that it can only express details inserted within a certain order: the discursive order, which is the linear and successive sequence of significant meaning units into a broader meaning complex. "[...] any idea which does not lend itself to this 'projection' is ineffable, incommunicable by means of words" (LANGER, 1941, pp.80f.). Images, on the contrary, are characterised by a simultaneous and integral, therefore "presentational symbolism". The totality of images encloses all meaning elements which constitute the symbolic unit as a whole and represents them all at once. This bears two consequences: On the one hand, the specific meaning of each single element can only be understood by, and through, the meaning of the whole, by its relations within a holistic structure. On the other hand, the exclusion of language-specific restrictions like linearity and succession allows for the communication of ideas, intentions and stances which may not—or only barely—be speakable using the symbolic system of language or which would lose their potential particular meaning if using language instead of images (cf. esp. IMDAHL, 1980; RAAB, 2007). [21]

However, as part of the growth visualisations and mediatisation in contemporary society, technological media like photography, film, television, video and computers, and the corresponding images they spread, are becoming primary forms of knowledge communication, especially for understanding and interpreting historical, social and cultural realities. There are nearly no historical, social or political topics, issues, processes or events left which cannot be immediately documented, then elaborated and finally communicated by the media. This development is reaching its culmination in the spread of surveillance cameras, the connection of visual recording devices with computers and the miniaturisation and multiplication of digital hybrid media like camera phones. [22]

This novel quality and quantity of audiovisual media and their proliferating images have provided quite different responses, ranging from severe condemnation of the corrosiveness of the vanishing influence of the printed word (POSTMAN, 1985), passing by the fear of an encompassing "industrialisation of vision" signifying a fundamental attack on human nature (VIRILIO, 1989, 1996) and the complete loss of human perception, reasoning and communication faculties (BAUDRILLARD, 1978, 2003; FLUSSER, 1997) to the vivacious qualification of audiovisual media as privileged trans-anthological cultural techniques (STEPHENS, 1998; WEIBEL, 1987, 1993). [23]

Beyond exaggerated euphoria, cultural pessimistic criticism and metaphysical visions of doom, the "flood of images" has also engendered broad theorisation of the significance of media and images for interaction in everyday life. This comes along with accompanying reflexions and discussions on the methodological and empirical labour with images and visual media. The bases of these efforts are rooted in the insight that we apprehend our world by interpretation and meaningful action, using changing forms of symbolic production and symbolic understanding, through which we have to continually create new gateways to our

world. Therefore, it is not only members of a certain culture that have to appropriate the increasingly complex forms of expression and meaning structures by establishing new ways of interpreting them. Moreover, the social sciences cannot avoid that something is becoming a subject of its methodologically controlled data production and analysis. The thing that not only shapes, but inherently determines the experience and memory, the knowledge, action and imagination of social and historical understanding and is determining it increasingly: the audiovisual media along with its images. [24]

At least in the wake of Cultural Studies' success, visual analysis has become a fixed element beyond those disciplines traditionally occupied with visual forms like art history and media studies. The reasons for this are, without doubt, manifold, but surely three factors have had a decisive influence: (a) the end of the logocentric paradigm, (b) the massive dissemination of visual media, and (c) the proliferation and easy access to visual devices in scientific research practice during the last decade. On the one hand, the growing use of visual forms of presentation has been stated in large number of scientific disciplines (HEINTZ & HUBER, 2001). On the other hand, visual techniques of data production are increasingly employed in the sciences. This growing relevance of visual and audiovisual forms is intimately related to technological innovation, a process in which the social sciences are obviously benefitting from a general trend towards audiovisual recordings, which has come with a rapid miniaturisation and technical improvement of the corresponding video equipment (better resolution quality, and capacity). Lower prices for increasingly powerful cameras have undoubtedly accelerated this process. Digitalisation, has not only improved the quality of audiovisual recordings, but enabled the storage and handling, including sharing electronic data within distributed research networks. [25]

# 4. Desiderates and Future Challenges for Interpretative Video-Analysis

Within a culture progressively shifting from literacy to visuality, video recordings are widely regarded by its members as "natural", "holistic", self-evident and taken-for-granted representations of social occasions and events. For social scientists however, video-data is the most complex, "multimodal" data used in qualitative studies so far. Although technical innovations over the last decade have significantly simplified its use, interpretative research with video-data still requires sophisticated methods of analysis. Today, we witness a growing interest in interpretative research with video data—a fact that calls for deepening the discussion of its methodological problems. Unlike other kinds of data the use of video in social research seem to foster a certain fusion—or confusion—of data collection (recording) with data analysis and interpretation, as well as with the presentation of results which may lead to severe methodical problems. [26]

For this reason and in order to discuss separately the pertaining problems of each area, we will consider the following three aspects that correspond to different stages in research with video data:

- Generation of video data: Video-based explorations of social worlds and relevant methodological and practical challenges for data generation include problems of field access, recording permission, solutions for legal, ethical and technical restrictions.
- 2. *Methods of data analysis and interpretation* as developed in the areas of ethnomethodological video-analysis, video-hermeneutics, video-interaction-analysis, video-performance-analysis, that lay the bases for combining or renewing existing approaches.
- Presentation of results in video-based interpretative research, which extend to criteria for the selection, preparation and publication of results and new ways of integrating video-data into established and accepted forms of publishing scientific results. [27]

From a methodological and methodical viewpoint, the following aspects are of special relevance for Interpretative Video-Analysis. [28]

# 4.1 Mimetic properties and constructedness

The "mimetic" character of audiovisual recordings supports—in contrast to standardised research forms using video—attempts to record social situations as exact and "undistorted" by the researchers as possible (HERBRIK & RÖHL, 2007). The mimetic property of video does not imply a fundamental epistemological position, but results from the quite mundane domain of research practice. Video recordings allow for a technically quick and facile production of "documents", available as a pre-embedded skill in everyday practice. Emphasising this "natural social positivism" in mundane video usage does, however, by no means equate to a methodological standpoint which equates with a similar belief in the "positivistic" features of video data at the level its social scientific usage. We do not hold the conviction that video actually would produce "authentic", undistorted, complete records of mundane situations. However, we share the member's view in the sense that video—except in quite rare cases—is supposed to be showing records of mundane situation which actually have taken place and are—more or less—well represented by the audiovisual material. They are, at least, documents of a certain situation to some extent and are constituted by a categorical difference from data which has been produced "artificially" exclusively for research purposes, as this is the case in data generated in laboratories (cf. KNOBLAUCH, 2004 for a further debate on different videographic data-types). [29]

The initial enthusiasm for employing video data in qualitative studies has been subjected to fundamental criticism concerning the naturalistic naïveté of this instrument of investigation. Mainly within anthropology, this issue has been widely discussed, as part of a broader epistemological reflection on the legitimacy and adequacy of investigating exotic cultures by western scientists. Known as the "crisis of representation" it has sharpened the awareness of the constructedness of any data social scientists produce and analyse. Constructedness, nevertheless, is not equivalent to invention or creation *ex nihilo*. To characterise

video as naturalistic data means to recognise both its conservation a wide range of aspects of the original situation, *and* its construction by the scientist mediated through video technologies. Selection and focussing are the two main procedures by which the scientist intervenes in the data construction (AMANN, 1997; BERG & FUCHS, 1993). [30]

Researchers understand that video-recordings do not of course capture the "world-as-it-happens" and they recognise that like all methods of data collection they are not without their problems and difficulties. Firstly, video-recordings provide a version of the event and cannot be ascribed some ultimate objective status (HEATH & LUFF, 2000; KNOBLAUCH, 2001). Secondly, field observations play a critical part in the research. The video-camera does not by any means replace the observer. On the contrary, the body of video-data has to be substantially augmented by observational data. Therefore, whilst the recordings are produced the researcher takes notes that later enrich the analysis of the video-data. And thirdly, they take particular care to reduce any reactivity of the data collection. Drawing on studies that investigate the reactivity of people to camera they place the recording device in some distance to the action. Research has pointed out that depending on the proximity between the video-camera and the observer the use of video-cameras is less obtrusive than participant observers (SMITH, MCPHAIL & PICKENS, 1975). [31]

The problem of *reactivity*, a current issue in methodological debates, certainly requires a more extended discussion, albeit under the auspices of cultural acceptance mentioned earlier and everyday practices of audiovisual media and, in particular, of video recordings. It is similarly accepted that every video recording factually encloses constructive aspects of those operating the camera, be they lay people or researchers. Their footprints are left in the specific selection of camera position, perspectives or groups etc., which are also being documented in the material. In order to avoid the vicious circle of infinite epistemological regress—to which fundamental argumentation may lead, as a number of debates following the "crisis of representation" have vividly shown—it is necessary to discuss these limits in relation to the changing conditions of on the one hand, social change in everyday life and on the other, the pragmatic needs of research. [32]

#### 4.2 Complexity

Video recordings produce data with a high degree of complexity. The sheer amount of data is a challenge in its own right. A few minutes of recording produce a large quantity of visual, kinaesthetic, acoustic etc. impressions, which have to be transcribed and prepared for analysis. Hence, an analytic and methodological framework is required that helps the researcher to deal with this complexity. One approach to analyse video-data derives from Ethnomethodology (GARFINKEL, 1967) and Conversation Analysis (SACKS, 1992). The complexity of audiovisual data—only approximately defined by the three forces mentioned earlier—constitutes an enormous potential for this communicative form, not only in aesthetical terms, but as a challenge for the social sciences' practises of analysis,

interpretation, and understanding. Visual media like camcorders and webcams are multifunctional instruments which enable a wide array of potential usages, including their conscientious application for data production in qualitative research. [33]

The relative neglect of video in the social sciences is sometimes attributed to its complexity and abundance. Video data is certainly among the most complex data in social scientific empirical research. It is multi-sensual and sequentially ordered, enclosing both diachronic and synchronic elements, e.g. speech and visual conduct, gesture, mimic expressions, representation of artefacts and the structure of the environment, as well as signs and symbols. Moreover, it represents aspects related to recording activity itself, such as the angle and the focus of the camera, the cuts, and other elements pertaining to the activity of filming and editing. Hence, video recording generates an extraordinary abundance of data, confronting the researcher with the problems of data management, retrieval and selection. This may not only cause data overload, but also raises the question of how to select sequences appropriate for further microanalysis. It might also be the case that the quality of the recordings may be detrimental to analytic purposes. There may be interesting parts of video that cannot be selected for further scrutiny due to, for example, recording problems (wrong perspective, malfunction, blurriness, people running through the image, etc.). Beyond such obvious practical restrictions, the methodological problem of what constitutes the unit of analysis and how to assure a balance between timeconsuming microanalysis and an overview over the whole data corpus remain open questions for future methodological debates. [34]

#### 4.3 Naturalness

In contrast to—for example—research designs using video within experimental settings or artificial situations (MITTENECKER, 1987), interpretative videoanalysis prefers "natural" data and social situations which have not been specially set up for research. Arranged situations or quasi-experimental settings may only be used in certain limited cases, as for example in studying the use of interaction with novel technical devices (FINN, SELLEN & WILBUR, 1997; LUFF et al., 2007) "Natural data", however, is not identical to data found by natural scientists. All video analysts agree in the interpretative character of their data. By natural data we mean that the recordings are made in situations affected as little as possible by the researchers (SILVERMAN, 2005). Natural data refers to data collected when the people studied act, behave and go about their business as they would if there were no social scientists observing or taping them. There is no doubt that the very presence of video technology may exert some influence on the situation that is being recorded, an influence commonly labelled "reactivity" (LAURIER & PHILO, 2006; LOMAX & CASEY, 1998). Nevertheless, many studies show that the effect of video becomes negligible in most situations after a certain phase of habituation. The stress on the naturalness of data should, however, not be understood as a total neglect of other kind of situations. Interviews or even experiments may also be subjected to video analyses, the general assumption being that they are not as a result taken to represent something else (i.e. what is

talked about in the interview), but only as what they are: interviews or experiments. In general, however, video analyses turn to more vernacular situations: people at work, people in museums, people sitting in a café etc. It is this orientation towards "natural situations" that leads video analysts to sympathise strongly with ethnography, particularly the kind of ethnography which turns towards encounters, social situations and performances as championed by Erving GOFFMAN (1961, 1967, 1971). In order to distinguish this ethnographically oriented video analysis from other standardised forms of video analysis, it seems therefore quite reasonable to refer to it as "videography" (KNOBLAUCH, 2006). [35]

# 4.4 Sequentiality

The enormous advantage of video data consists in its *inherent sequential order*. Social situations, interactions and processes are not only observable in a wide range of perspectives, but also transformed into data that still enclose the sequential unfolding of the recorded events or interactions. Video provides an opportunity to capture participants' actions and activities and subject them to repeated scrutiny using slow-motion facilities and the like. They give access to the sequential, moment-by-moment production of talk and visual conduct as it emerges—details which are unavailable to methods like observation or interviewing. Video-recordings also provide researchers with the opportunity, at least in public settings such as colloquia and conferences, to show and discuss analytic observations with regard to the data themselves (HEATH & HINDMARSH, 2002). The discursiveness of this media technology, especially through the possibility to rewind and fast forward, enables repeated investigation of scenes and interactive sequences in great detail and without loss of quality. Digital video enables a simplified usage in comparison with older technology such as super-8 or VHS, allowing for manipulability of reproduction at high levels of detail. This constitutes the basis for the methodological advantage of video because it allows detailed microscopic investigation of complex interactions. Slow motion and amplification of segments allow a "microscopic" look at details that may be out reach of the participant's viewpoint and therefore might pass unnoticed using other methods, and, in particular, it allows consideration of the successive unfolding of interactive sequences and appreciation of the interrelation between elements that might be inobservable to the naked eye. Likewise of specific relevance for analytical work with video data are features including freezing of images, accelerated or decelerated reproduction speed, splitting audio from video, etc. Moreover digitalisation allows faster cutting out of relevant sequences, editing and annotating or comparing different diachronic sequences synchronically (as in split-screen arrangements, cf. MONDADA, 2005, PERÄKYLÄ & RUUSUVUORI, 2006). [36]

Although sequentiality can have various meanings—particularly in the divergent uses of the term by hermeneutics and conversation-analysis—the parallel between the sequentiality of the medium and the sequentiality of social activities is fundamental to video analysis. Since all approaches are interpretative, the analysis is built in one way or the other on what may be called "ethno-

hermeneutics". They also share the methodological conviction that interpretive analysis of video-data requires more than "visual empathy" combined with descriptive "structured microanalysis" as DENZIN (2000) suggests. Sequentiality is one of the inherent characteristics bearing special relevance for the analytical potential of video data. Unlike other images—think of paintings, photography or graphics—video and filmic data have a genuine sequential structure. This property can be examined from two complementary perspectives: The first aspect of sequentiality lies in the continual temporal succession of movements within a single take, what has been from its beginnings one of the most fascinating qualities of film, as documented in examples from early cinema. While this may be limited to a fixed camera, the second aspect adds a further quality as expressed by the mobilisation of camera itself, in the shifts and zooming, dynamising the images and producing new temporal and spatial modulations. Cutting and editing are of major importance in this respect, because together with the moving camera they enable the separation of scenes and the production of continuity, as one of the basic narrative filmic devices (see LAURIER, STREBEL & BROWN, 2008 for an insight to the complex task of professional editing practice). [37]

In this sense, the ongoing separation, (re-)combination and permutation of perceptual instances transforming and rearranging meaning structures, or courses of action and interaction, is constitutive for those audiovisual data which have been edited. Cutting and editing determine the organisation of space and time and constitute central elements of showing and narration, which means visual-cognitive efforts of interpretation, because they guide and direct the spectators' gaze and reception, and, ultimately, frame their understanding and interpretation. In addition to the aforementioned aspects, which can be subsumed in general to the problem of continuity and succession of moving images, exists a third aspect of sequentiality: Hidden by the simultaneity of images and sound, there have been attached to moving images from the very beginning of media, voice, musical, sound, commentaries and dialogue. [38]

#### 4.5 Transcription and analysis

No doubt, the relation between the spoken and the visual is of general epistemological importance and the relation between text and image needs to be clarified. In the case of video analysis, however, this issue exhibits a very practical aspect: the *transcription* of data inscribes in its particular way how the visual is accounted for by the analysis, so that any further development of video analysis will also depend on the way in which data are being transcribed or otherwise made accessible for analysis. Analysis will increasingly be able to draw on visual representation, with the result that written transcripts may lose their importance to such a degree as to potentially provide the way for a "visual mentality" in analysis—a mode of analysing that depends less on the written word than on visualisation and imagination. The ongoing technological changes may also affect the way—and are already now affecting the ways—in which studies are being presented (cf. for example BÜSCHER, 2005)—however, for the time being, we still rely on the rather conventional forms of transcriptions and frame

grabs. We need to consider that transcribing data is not just a preliminary phase of analysis. It forms an essential part of analysis. Transcribing generates observations that are fundamental to analytical inferences. As in research based on natural communicative activities or interviews, the transcription of video data is simply indispensable. [39]

Conversation analysts and linguists have developed a wide array of transcription systems that transform the analytically important aspects of spoken language into textual representations (cf. DITTMAR, 2002 for a comprehensive overview). Nevertheless, transcription systems for video data still remain in an experimental stage. "There is no general orthography used for the transcription of visual and tactile conduct". However, "over the years researchers have developed *ad hoc* solutions to locating and characterizing action" (HEATH & HINDMARSH, 2002). These "ad hoc solutions" comprise of transcripts which basically consist of detailed description of what occurs in the video. There are also forms of transcription for non-verbal aspects and their relation to the verbal behaviour of participants, "conduct score", and sketches of action sequences or "thick interpretative descriptions" in addition to representations of data that attempt to make use of the visual potential of video data. [40]

# 4.6 Technical and legal restrictions

A further problem is the role of technology as both enabling opportunities and subjecting video research to certain limits. The very fact that the methodology is heavily reliant on technology ties it to future technological developments. This does not only raise the question of what impact the technology may have on social scientific video analysis (and *vice versa*). Video confronts the researcher with a number of technical and material challenges. Some of them concern the utilisation and application of camera, microphones, software etc. This technical part is still underestimated in the methodological discussion. Even if technology may not be considered an "autonomous actor" (RAMMERT & SCHULZ-SCHAEFFER, 2002), the devices employed definitely exert at least some influence upon the course of action in the research process. Without doubt, the instruments change the way in which we collect, construct, analyse and interpret our data. Methodological considerations rarely reflect this material issue because we are used to discussing methodology in much more abstract terms. [41]

Hence, we may ask in what ways the instruments interfere with our analytical work. This question is especially pertinent for video analysis, which, compared to other qualitative methods, requires quite a lot of technology. Indeed, it may represent one of the most expensive and intricate ways to conduct qualitative research. Nonetheless, researchers still must purchase camcorders, tapes, tripods, microphones, etc. for the purpose of recording videos. In addition, analysing video data requires intelligent storage and cataloguing systems for raw data, powerful computer hardware and a series of software tools to digitalise, transcribe and analyse data and to present research results. Due to miniaturisation and popularisation, stripped down versions of video equipment have become ever more accessible for students. Nevertheless, the expense

entailed from basic research equipment (somewhere between the equipment available for popular use and that used by television professionals) easily may amount to tens of thousands of Euros—in addition to the space, time and patience required to select the appropriate apparatus and software. Its handling requires also novel technical skills, quite unprecedented in qualitative inquiry. And, unlike other, more conventional forms of qualitative research, e.g. participant observation or interviews, preliminaries and preparation take considerably more time in qualitative video analysis. This may cause a certain delay in the analytical work, as quite extended portions of time are consumed by mere "craftsmanship". As a result, qualitative inquiry may even become more similar to quantitative research. As in surveys, much work is invested in preparation, providing skills to the coders, handling the data-collections etc. [42]

Finally, one of the most salient problems is the *legal issues* of video-recording. Like any other form of research, video analysis is subject to legal and ethical restrictions. This concerns questions such as: where are video analysts permitted to film, who is permitted to record social interactions for analytical purposes. which of these images may be stored, analysed or even used for publication and thereby disclosed to a wider audience. Although there have been intense debates on issues related to video recording in public places, their focus has been primarily on security issues and the questions of infringement on individuals' right to privacy. To our knowledge, there is no specific regulation for scientific video recordings at the moment (GARSTKA, 2004). To assure that some kind of "informed consent" exists seems to be, in the meantime, the most reasonable practical solution, although there may be cases in which this is virtually impossible (e.g. for each single pedestrian in wide-angle shots of public places). In addition, unlike for example the case of interview transcripts, anonymisation of moving images is a technically much more demanding task. Consequently, respecting the right to privacy in video analysis is a difficult and as yet unresolved problem, in addition to the legal implications of possible infringements on copyrights and other rights that may be touched on by capturing, recording, analysing, storing or publishing video data of some sort (i.e. the fine distinction the legal systems draws in the field of data protection in general). Legally, the use of video for scholarly purposes of the kind described above oscillates between the individual freedom, which puts particular restrictions on "natural recording" practices, on the one hand, and the freedom of research, which puts no limits on the potential subjects of video recording to the extent that these may be of scientific relevance. Because of the tension between these two extremes, researchers often find themselves caught in a dilemma. [43]

#### 5. Conclusion

Modern societies are characterised by the increase of mediated and visualised forms of communication. These ongoing changes impact deeply on social relations. Mediated representations of reality tend to overlay the "natural" perceptions generated by the human senses. In other words, media products not only increasingly surround people in their everyday-life, but photographs, movies, TV-broadcasts, video-productions, and virtual computer-worlds influence their

perception of reality fundamentally. In effect, humanities and social science researchers must answer questions like: To what extent do technical constructions of reality alter the forms of human self-interpretation and self-representation? How do the audiovisual media shift and extend the potential for the human construction and attribution of meaning? And not least, which new requirements for the interpretation, and which new challenges to the understanding of meaning come into being in everyday-life (e.g. in the reception of mass media), as well as in social-scientific documentation and analysis of visual data? [44]

Genre analysis and video hermeneutics have recently been developed as procedures for the generation, documentation, and understanding of audiovisual data. Both are closely related to the theory of the social construction of reality (BERGER & LUCKMANN, 1966). The fundamental idea of these approaches is to consider social data as manifestations of the protagonists' perception and recognition of reality as well as of their self-representation and self-interpretation in everyday life (SCHNETTLER & KNOBLAUCH, 2007; RAAB & SOEFFNER, 2008). Consequently, genre analysis and video hermeneutics as reconstruction procedures show how facts are fabricated by human beings under certain sociohistorical conditions. Furthermore, they oblige the researcher to take on a self-reflexive stance and take into account his or her subjective presuppositions under which he himself or she herself constitutes the reality he or she is observing.— Only in this way can social scientists do justice to the ambitions of an ethnographic approach required for the forthcoming developments in the new visual sociology. [45]

#### References

Albrecht, Gerd (1991). Vom Königsweg zum Marterpfad? Soziologische Fragestellungen und Methoden der Filmanalyse. In Helmut Korte & Werner Faulstich (Eds.), *Filmanalyse Interdisziplinär* (pp.73-89). Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht.

Amann, Klaus (1997). Die Befremdung der eigenen Kultur. Ein Programm. In Stefan Hirschauer & Klaus Amann (Eds.), *Die Befremdung der eigenen Kultur. Zur ethnographischen Herausforderung soziologischer Empirie* (pp.7-52). Frankfurt a. Main: Suhrkamp.

Amann, Klaus & Knorr Cetina, Karin (1988). The fixation of (visual) evidence. *Human Studies*, 11, 133-169.

Aufschnaiter, Stefan von & Welzel, Manuela (2001). Nutzung von Videodaten zur Untersuchung von Lehr- und Lernprozessen. Münster: Waxmann.

Ayass, Ruth (1997). Die kleinen Propheten des "Worts zum Sonntag". Zeitschrift für Soziologie, 26(3), 222-235.

Baer, Alejandro (2005). El testimonio audivisual. Imagen y memoria de Holocausto. Madrid: Centro de Investigaciones Sociológicas, CIS.

Bal, Mieke (2002). Kulturanalyse. Frankfurt a. Main: Suhrkamp.

Ballhaus, Edmund (1985). Dorfentwicklung im Spiegel der Fotografie und im Bewusstsein der Bewohner am Beispiel Echte. Wiesbaden: Bauverlag.

Banks, Marcus & Morphy, Howard (1997). Rethinking visual anthropology. New Haven: Yale.

Barthes, Roland (1985). *Die helle Kammer. Bemerkung zur Photographie*. Frankfurt a. Main: Suhrkamp.

Bateson, Gregory & Mead, Margarete (1942). *Balinese character. A photographic analysis*. New York: New York Academy of Sciences.

Baudrillard, Jean (1978). Agonie des Realen. Berlin: Merve.

Baudrillard, Jean (2003). Nach der Orgie. In Jean Baudrillard, *Short cuts* (pp.131-145). Frankfurt a. Main: Zweitausendeins.

Becker, Howard S. (1981). *Exploring society photographically*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Becker, Howard S. (1986). Photography and sociology. In Howard S. Becker, *Doing things together: Selected papers* (pp.255-273). Evanston: Northwestern University Press.

Berg, Eberhard & Fuchs, Martin (1993). *Kultur, soziale Praxis, Text. Die Krise der ethnographischen Repräsentation*. Frankfurt a. Main: Suhrkamp.

Berger, Peter L. & Luckmann, Thomas (1966). *The social construction of reality. A treatise in the sociology of knowledge*. Garden City, New York: Anchor Books.

Berghaus, Margot (1989). Visuelle Soziologie. In Günter Endruweit & Gisela Trommsdorf (Eds.), Wörterbuch der Soziologie, Band 3 (pp.673-675). Stuttgart: Enke.

Bergmann, Jörg; Luckmann, Thomas & Soeffner, Hans-Georg (1993). Erscheinungsformen von Charisma—Zwei Päpste. In Winfried Gebhardt, Arnold Zingerle, & Michael N. Ebertz (Eds.), *Charisma—Theorie, Religion, Politik* (pp.121-155). Berlin: De Gruyter.

Birdwhistell, Ray L. (1970). *Kinesics and context: Essay in body-motion research*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

<u>Bohnsack, Ralf</u> (2001). Die dokumentarische Methode in der Bild- und Fotointerpretation. In Ralf Bohnsack, Iris Nentwig-Gesemann & Arnd-Michael Nohl (Eds.), *Die dokumentarische Methode und ihre Forschungspraxis. Grundlagen qualitativer Sozialforschung* (pp.67-89). Opladen: Leske+Budrich.

Bohnsack, Ralf (2005). Bildinterpretation und dokumentarische Methode. In Christoph Wulf & Jörg Zirfas (Eds.), *Ikonologie des Performativen* (pp.246-262). München: Fink.

Bohnsack, Ralf (2008). The interpretation of pictures and the documentary method. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 9(3), Art. 26, <a href="http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs0803267">http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs0803267</a> [Date of access: 8/29/2008].

Bonfadelli, Heinz (1980). *Die Sozialisationsperspektive in der Massenkommunikationsforschung*. Berlin: Spiess.

Bourdieu, Pierre; Boltanski, Luc; Castel, Robert; Chamboredon, Jean-Claude; Lagneau, Gérard & Schnapper, Dominique (1981/1965). *Eine illegitime Kunst. Die sozialen Gebrauchsweisen der Photographie*. Frankfurt a. Main: Europäische Verlagsanstalt.

Breckindrige, Sophonisba P. & Aboth, Edith (1910). Chicagoe's housing problems. Families in furnished rooms. *American Journal of Sociology, XVI*, 289-308.

Bryson, Norman; Moxey, Keith & Holly, Ann (1991). *Visual culture. Images and interpretation.* Middletown: Wesleyan University Press.

Büscher, Monika (2005). Social life under the microscope? *Sociological Research Online*, 10, <a href="http://www.socresonline.org.uk/10/1/buscher.html">http://www.socresonline.org.uk/10/1/buscher.html</a> [Date of access: 8/17/2008].

Caufield, Jon (1996). Visual sociology and sociological vision, revisited. *The American Sociologist*, 27(3), 56-68.

Chaplin, Emma (1994). Sociology and visual representation. London: Routledge

Cheatwood, Derral & Stasz, Clarice (1979). Visual sociology. In Jon C. Wagner (Ed.), *Images of information*. *Still photography in the social sciences* (pp.261-283). London: Sage

Collier, John (1967). Visual anthropology. Photography as a research method. London: Sage.

Collier, John (1979). Visual anthropology. In Jon C. Wagner (Ed.), *Images of information. Still photography in the social sciences* (pp.271-282). London: Sage.

Collier, John & Collier, Malcom (1986). *Visual anthropology. Photography as a research method.* Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press.

Curry, Timothy J. (1984). A rational for visual sociology. *International Journal of Visual Sociology*, 1, 13-24.

Curry, Timothy J. & Clarke, Alfred C. (1978). Introducing visual sociology. Dubuque: Kendall/Hunt.

Davies, Charlotte Aull (1999). Using visual media. In Charlotte Aull Davies (Ed.), *Reflexive anthropology* (pp.117-135). London: Routledge.

<u>Denzin, Norman K.</u> (2000). Reading Film—Filme und Videos als sozialwissenschaftliches Erfahrungsmaterial. In <u>Uwe Flick</u>, Ernst v. Kardorff, & Ines Steinke (Eds.), *Qualitative Forschung. Ein Handbuch* (pp.416-428). Reinbek bei Hamburg: Rowohlt.

Dittmar, Norbert (2002). *Transkription. Ein Leitfaden mit Aufgaben für Studenten, Forscher und Laien.* Opladen: Leske+Budrich.

Eco, Umberto (1985). Ein Foto. In Umberto Eco, Über Gott und die Welt (pp.214-219). München: dtv.

Eibl-Eibesfeldt, Irenäus; Schiefenhövel, Wulf & Heeschen, Volker (1989). Kommunikation bei den Eipo. Eine humanethologische Bestandsaufnahme. Berlin: Reimer.

Ekman, Paul & Friesen, Wallace (1969). A tool for the analysis of motion picture film or videotapes. *American Psychologist*, 24(3), 240-243.

Emmison, Michael J. & Smith, Philip D. (2000). Researching the visual. London: Sage.

Endruweit, Günter, & Trommsdorf, Gisela (1989). Wörterbuch der Soziologie. Stuttgart: Enke.

Endruweit, Günter, & Trommsdorf, Gisela (2002). Wörterbuch der Soziologie (2nd ed.). Stuttgart: UTB.

Englisch, Felicitas (1991). Bildanalyse in strukturalhermeneutischer Einstellung. Methodische Überlegungen und Analysebeispiele. In Detlef Garz & Klaus Kraimer (Eds.), *Qualitativ-empirische Sozialforschung* (pp.133-176). Opladen: Westdeutscher Verlag.

Evans, Jessica & Hall, Stuart (1999). Visual culture. The reader. London: Sage.

Evans, Walker (1973). Photographs from the farm security administration 1935-1938. New York: Da Capo Press.

Finn, Kathleen E.; Sellen, Abigail J. & Wilbur, Sylvia B. (1997). *Video-mediated communication*. Mahwah: Erlbaum.

Fiske, John (1998). Surveilling the city. Whiteness, the black man and democratic totalitarianism. *Theory, Culture and Society*, *15*(2), 67-88.

Flusser, Vilém (1997). Bilderstatus. In Vilém Flusser (Ed.), *Medienkultur* (pp.69-82). Frankfurt a. Main: Fischer.

Fyfe, Nicholas R. (1999). *Images of the street. Planning, identity and control in public space*. London: Routledge.

Garfinkel, Harold (1967). Studies in ethnomethodology. Malden: Blackwell.

Garstka, Hansjürgen (2004). Informed consent and privacy protection—indispensable ethical and legal prerequisites. Paper presented at the conference *Video-analysis: Methodology and methods. State of the art and prospects of interpretive audiovisual data analysis in sociology*, December 9–11, 2004, Wissenschaftsforum Berlin.

Goffman, Erving (1961). Encounters. Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill.

Goffman, Erving (1967). *Interaction ritual. Essays on face-to-face behavior*. Garden City: Doubleday.

Goffman, Erving (1971). Relations in public. New York: Basic Books.

Goffman, Erving (1979). Gender advertisements. New York: Harper and Row.

Gombrich, Ernst H. (1984). Bild und Auge. Neue Studien zur Psychologie der bildlichen Darstellung. Stuttgart: Klett-Cotta.

Goodwin, Charles (1981). *Conversational organization: Interaction between speakers and hearers*. New York: Academic Press.

Goodwin, Charles (1986). Gestures as a resource for the organization of mutual orientation. *Semiotica*, *62*, 29-49.

Goodwin, Charles & Goodwin, Marjarie Harness (1996). Seeing as situated activity: Formulating planes. In Yrjö Engeström & David Middleton (Eds.), *Cognition and communication at work* (pp.61-95). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Goody, Jack (1981). Literalität in traditionalen Gesellschaften. Frankfurt a. Main: Suhrkamp.

Goody, Jack; Watt, Ian & Gough, Kathleen (1986). *Entstehung und Folgen der Schriftkultur*. Frankfurt a. Main: Suhrkamp.

Günthner, Susanne & Knoblauch, Hubert (1995). Culturally patterned speaking practices—The analysis of communicative genres. *Pragmatics*, *5*(1), 1-32.

Guschker, Stefan (2001). Bilderwelt und Lebenswirklichkeit. Eine soziologische Studie über die Rolle privater Fotos für die Sinnhaftigkeit des eigenen Lebens. Frankfurt a. Main: Lang.

Hahn, Johann G. (1991). Die Bedeutung des kleinsten Details. Bausteine zur analytischen Interpretation sich bewegender Bilder. In Michael Kuhn (Ed.), *Hinter den Augen ein eigenes Bild. Film und Spiritualität* (pp.91-132). Zürich: Benziger.

Harper, Douglas (1988). Visual sociology: Expanding sociological vision. *The American Sociologist*, 19, 54-70.

Harper, Douglas (1996). Seeing sociology. The American Sociologist, 27(3), 69-78.

Haupert, Bernhard (1994). Objektiv-hermeneutische Fotoanalyse am Beispiel von zwei Soldatenfotos aus dem zweiten Weltkrieg. In Detlef Garz & Klaus Kraimer (Eds.), *Die Welt als Text. Theorie, Kritik und Praxis der objektiven Hermeneutik* (pp.281-314.). Frankfurt a. Main: Suhrkamp.

Have, Paul ten (1999). Doing conversation analysis. A practical guide. London: Sage.

Heath, Christian (1986). *Body movement and speech in medical Interaction*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Heath, Christian (1997). Video and sociology: The material and interactional organization of social action in naturally occurring settings. *Champs visuels*, 6, 37-46.

Heath, Christian & Hindmarsh, Jon (2002). Analysing interaction: Video, ethnography and situated conduct. In Tim May (Ed.), *Qualitative research in action* (pp.99-121). London: Sage.

Heath, Christian & Luff, Paul (1996). Convergent activities: Line control and passenger information on the London Underground. In Yrjö Engeström & David Middleton (Eds.), *Cognition and communication at work* (pp.96-129). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Heath, Christian & Luff, Paul (2000). *Technology in action*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Heath, Christian & Luff, Paul (2007). Ordering competition. The interactional accomplishment of the sale of fine art and antiques at auction. *British Journal of Sociology*, *58*(1) 63-85.

Heath, Christian & vom Lehn, Dirk (2004). Configuring reception. (Dis-)regarding the "Spectator" in museums and galleries. *Theory, Culture & Society*, 21(6), 43-65.

Heath, Christian; Knoblauch, Hubert & Luff, Paul (2000). Technology and social interaction. The emergence of "workplace studies". *British Journal of Sociology*, *51*(2), 299-320.

Heath, Christian; Luff, Paul & Knoblauch, Hubert (2004). Tools, technologies and organizational interaction: The emergence of the "workplace studies". In David Grant, Cynthia Hardy, Clifford Oswick & Linda L. Putnam (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of organizational discourse* (pp.337-358). London: Sage.

Heintz, Bettina & Huber, Jörg (2001). *Mit den Augen denken. Strategien der Sichtbarmachung in wissenschaftlichen und virtuellen Welten.* Zürich: Edition Voldemeer.

Henney, Leonard M. (1986). *Theory and practice of visual sociology* (Current Sociology 34, 3). London: Sage.

Herbrik, Regine & Röhl, Tobias (2007). Visuelle Kommunikationsstrategien im Zusammenspiel. Gestik im Fantasy-Rollenspiel. *Sozialer Sinn. Zeitschrift für hermeneutische Sozia*lforschung, 2, 237-265.

Heßler, Martina (2005). Bilder zwischen Kunst und Wissenschaft. Geschichte und Gesellschaft, 31(2), 266-292.

<u>Hitzler, Ronald</u> & Barth, Daniel (1996). Die Ripley-Saga. Eine lebensweltliche Perspektive zur Alien-Triologie. In Werner Hofmann (Ed.), *Sinnwelt Film. Beiträge zur interdisziplinären Filmanalyse* (pp.57-68). Baden-Baden: Nomos.

Holert, Tom (2000). Bildfähigkeiten. In Tom Holert, *Imagineering. Visuelle Kultur und Politik der Sichtbarkeit* (pp.14-33). Köln: Oktagon.

Holliday, Ruth (2000). We've been framed: Visualizing methodology. *Sociological Review*, 48(4), 503-521.

Hunziker, Peter (1988). Medien, Kommunikation und Gesellschaft. Einführung in die Soziologie der Massenkommunikation. Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft.

Imdahl, Max (1980). Giottos Arenafresken. Ikonographie, Ikonologie, Ikonik. München: Fink.

Jayyusi, Lena (1988). Toward a socio-logic of the film text. Semiotica, 68(3-4), 271-296.

Jenks, Chris (1995). Visual culture. London: Routledge.

Kendon, Adam (1990). Conducting interaction. Patterns of behavior in focused encounters. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Keppler, Angela (1985). *Präsentation und Information. Zur politischen Berichterstattung im Fernsehen*. Tübingen: Narr.

Kepplinger, Hans Matthias (1987). Darstellungseffekte. Experimentelle Untersuchungen zur Wirkung von Pressefotos und Fernsehfilmen. Freiburg: Alber.

Knoblauch, Hubert (1996). Arbeit als Interaktion. Informationsgesellschaft, Post-Fordismus und Kommunikationsarbeit. *Soziale Welt*, 47, 344-362.

Knoblauch, Hubert (2000). Workplace Studies und Video. Zur Entwicklung der Ethnographie von Technologie und Arbeit. In Irene Götz & Andreas Wittel (Eds.), *Arbeitskulturen im Umbruch. Zur Ethnographie von Arbeit und Organisation* (pp.159-173). Münster: Waxmann.

Knoblauch, Hubert (2001). Fokussierte Ethnographie. Sozialer Sinn. Zeitschrift für hermeneutische Sozialforschung, 2, 123-141.

Knoblauch, Hubert (2004). Die Video-Interaktions-Analyse. Sozialer Sinn. Zeitschrift für hermeneutische Sozialforschung, 1, 123-138.

Knoblauch, Hubert (2006). Videography. Focused ethnography and video analysis. In Hubert Knoblauch, Bernt Schnettler, Jürgen Raab & Hans-Georg Soeffner (Eds.), *Video analysis: Methodology and methods. Qualitative audiovisual data analysis in sociology* (pp.69-83). Frankfurt a. Main: Lang.

Knoblauch, Hubert & Luckmann, Thomas (2004). Genre analysis. In Uwe Flick, Ernst von Kardorff & Ines Steinke (Eds.), *A companion to qualitative research* (pp.303-308). London: Sage.

Knoblauch, Hubert & Raab, Jürgen (2001). Genres and the aesthetics of advertisement spots. In Helga Kotthoff & Hubert Knoblauch (Eds.), *Verbal art across cultures. The aesthetics and proto-aesthetics of communication* (pp.195-222). Tübingen: Narr.

Knoblauch, Hubert; Schnettler, Bernt; Raab, Jürgen & Soeffner, Hans-Georg (2006). Video analysis —Methodological aspects of Interpretive audiovisual analysis in social research. In Hubert Knoblauch, Bernt Schnettler, Jürgen Raab & Hans-Georg Soeffner (Eds.). Video analysis: Methodology and methods. Qualitative audiovisual data analysis in sociology (pp.9-26). Frankfurt a. Main: Lang.

Koch, Sabine C. & Zumbach, Jörg (2002). The use of video analysis software in behavior observation research: Interaction patterns of task-oriented small groups. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 3(2), Art. 18, <a href="http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs0202187">http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs0202187</a> [Date of access: 8/29/2008].

Körschen, Marc, Pohl, Jessica, Schmitz, H. Walter & Schulte, Olaf A. (2002). Neue Techniken der qualitativen Gesprächsforschung: Computergestützte Transkription von Videokonferenzen. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, *3*(2), Art 19, <a href="http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fgs0202198">http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fgs0202198</a> [Date of access: 8/29/2008].

Koskinen, Ilpo (2004). Seeing with mobile Images: Towards perpetual visual contact. <a href="http://www.fil.hu/mobil/2004/Koskinen webversion.pdf">http://www.fil.hu/mobil/2004/Koskinen webversion.pdf</a> [Date of access: 8/29/2008].

Kotelmann, Joachim & Mikos, Lothar (1981). Frühjahrsputz und Südseezauber. Die Darstellung der Frau in der Fernsehwerbung und das Bewußtsein von Zuschauerinnen. Baden-Baden: Bauer.

Lacoste, Michèle (1997). Filmer pour analyser. L'importance de voir dans les micro-analysis du travail. *Champs Visuels*, 6, 10-17.

Langer, Susanne K. (1941). *Philosophy in a new key: A study in the symbolism of reason, rite and art.* Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

Laurier, Eric & Philo, Chris (2006). Natural problems of naturalistic video data. In Hubert Knoblauch, Bernt Schnettler, Jürgen Raab & Hans-Georg Soeffner (Eds.), *Video analysis: Methodology and methods. Qualitative audiovisual data analysis in sociology* (pp.183-192). Frankfurt a. Main: Lang.

Laurier, Eric; Strebel, Ignaz & Brown, Barry (2008). Video analysis: Lessons from professional video editing practice. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 9(3), Art. 37, <a href="http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs0803378">http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs0803378</a> [Date of access: 9/29/2008].

Leeuwen, Theo van & Jewitt, Carey (2001). Handbook of visual analysis. London: Sage.

Leicht, Michael (2006). Wie Katie Tingle sich weigerte, ordentlich zu posieren und Walker Evans darüber nicht grollte. Eine kritische Bildbetrachtung sozialdokumentarischer Fotografie. Bielefeld: transcript

Loer, Thomas (1994). Werkgestalt und Erfahrungsrekonstruktion. Exemplarische Analyse von Paul Cézannes 'Montagne Sainte Victoire, (1904/06) unter Anwendung der Methode der objektiven Hermeneutik und Ausblick auf eine soziologische Theorie der Ästhetik im Hinblick auf eine Theorie der Erfahrung. In Detlef Garz & Klaus Kraimer (Eds.), *Die Welt als Text. Theorie, Kritik und Praxis der objektiven Hermeneutik* (pp.341-382). Frankfurt a. Main: Suhrkamp.

Loizos, Peter (2000). Video, film and photographs as research documents. In Martin W. Bauer & George Gaskell (Eds.), *Qualitative researching with text, image and sound. A practical handbook* (pp.93-107). London: Sage.

Lomax, Helen, & Casey, Neil (1998). Recording social life: Reflexivity and video methodology. *Sociological Research Online*, 3, <a href="http://www.socresonline.org.uk/3/2/1.html">http://www.socresonline.org.uk/3/2/1.html</a> [Date of access: 8/29/2008].

Long, Elizabeth (1997). From sociology to cultural Studies. New perspective. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.

Luckmann, Thomas (1986). Grundformen der gesellschaftlichen Vermittlung des Wissens: Kommunikative Gattungen. *Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie*, Sonderheft 27, 191-211.

Luckmann, Thomas (1997). Le paradigme communicatif dans la "nouvelle" Sociologie de la Connaissance. Sociétés. Revue des Sciences Humaines et Sociales, 55, 89-98.

Luckmann, Thomas (2006a). Die kommunikative Konstruktion der Wirklichkeit. In Dirk Tänzler, Hubert Knoblauch & Hans-Georg Soeffner (Eds.), *Neue Perspektiven der Wissenssoziologie* (pp.15-26). Konstanz: UVK.

Luckmann, Thomas (2006b). Some remarks on scores in multimodal sequential analysis. In Hubert Knoblauch, Bernt Schnettler, Jürgen Raab & Hans-Georg Soeffner (Eds.), *Video analysis: Methodology and methods. Qualitative audiovisual data analysis in sociology* (pp.29-34). Frankfurt a. Main: Lang.

Luckmann, Thomas & Gross, Peter (1977). Analyse unmittelbarer Kommunikation und Interaktion als Zugang zum Problem der Entstehung sozialwissenschaftlicher Daten. In Hans-Ulrich Bielefeld, Ernest W.B. Hess-Lüttich & Andre Lundt (Eds.), *Soziolinguistik und Empirie. Beiträge zu Problemen der Corpusgewinnung und -auswertung* (pp.198-207). Wiesbaden: Athenaum.

Luff, Paul; Adams, Guy; Bock, Wolfgang; Drazin, Adam; Frohlich, David; Heath, Christian; Herdman, Peter; King, Heather; Linketscher, Nadja; Murphy, Rachel; Norrie, Moira; Sellen, Abigail; Signer, Beat; Tallyn, Ella & Zeller, Emil (2007). Augmented paper: Developing relationships between digital content and paper. In Norbert Streitz, Achilles Kameas & Irene Mavrommati (Eds.), *The disappearing computer* (pp.275-298). Berlin: Springer.

Luff, Paul; Hindmarsh, Jon & Heath, Christian (2000). Workplace studies. Recovering work practice and informing system design. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Luhmann, Niklas (1995). Die Realität der Massenmedien. Opladen: Westdeutscher Verlag.

Maclean, Anne M. (1903). The sweat-shop in summer. *American Journal of Sociology*, *IX*(3), 289-309.

Maletzke, Gerhard (1988). Massenkommunikationstheorien. Tübingen: Niemeyer.

Mannheim, Karl (1964). Wissenssoziologie. Berlin: Luchterhand.

McLuhan, Marshal (1964). Understanding media. The extension of man. London: Routledge.

Mead, Margaret (1975). Visual anthropology in a discipline of words. In Paul Hockings (Ed.), *Principles of visual anthropology* (pp.3-10). The Hague: Mouton.

Meier, Christoph (1998). Zur Untersuchung von Arbeits- und Interaktionsprozessen anhand von Videoaufzeichnungen. *Arbeit*, 7(3), 257-275.

Merton, Robert K. (with the assistance of Marjorie Fiske & Alberta Curtis) (1946). *Mass persuasion. The social psychology of a war bond drive*. London: Harper & Brothers.

Metz, Christian (1972). Semiologie des Films. München: Fink.

Mikos, Lothar (1999). Die Rezeption des Cultural Studies Approach im deutschsprachigen Raum. In Andreas Hepp & Rainer Winter (Eds.), *Kultur-Medien-Macht. Cultural Studies und Medienanalyse* (pp.161-171). Wiesbaden: VS-Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften

Mirzoeff, Nicolas (1998). The visual culture reader. London: Routledge.

Mirzoeff, Nicolas (1999). An introduction to visual culture. London: Routledge.

Mittenecker, Erich (1987). Video in der Psychologie. Methoden und Anwendungsbeispiele in Forschung und Praxis. Bern: Huber.

Mohn, Elisabeth (2002). Filming Culture. Spielarten des Dokumentierens nach der Repräsentationskrise. Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

Mondada, Lorenza (2003). Working with video: How surgeons produce video records and their actions. *Visual Studies*, *18*(1), 58-73

Mondada, Lorenza (2005). Video recording as the reflexive preservation and configuration of phenomenal features for analysis. In Hubert Knoblauch, Bernt Schnettler, Jürgen Raab & Hans-Georg Soeffner (Eds.), Video analysis: Methodology and methods. Qualitative audiovisual data analysis in sociology(pp.51-67). Frankfurt a. Main: Lang.

Mora, Gilles & Brannan, Beverly W. (Eds.) (2006). Les photographes de la FSA (Farm Security Administration): Archives d'une amérique en crise 1935-43. Paris: Seuil.

Müller-Doohm, Stefan (1993). Visuelles Verstehen. Konzepte kultursoziologischer Bildhermeneutik. In Thomas Jung & Stefan Müller-Doohm (Eds.), "Wirklichkeit" im Deutungsprozess (pp.438-456). Frankfurt a. Main: Suhrkamp.

Müller-Doohm, Stefan (1997). Bildinterpretation als struktural-hermeneutische Symbolanalyse. In Ronald Hitzler & Anne Honer (Eds.), *Sozialwissenschaftliche Hermeneutik* (pp.81-108). Opladen: Leske+Budrich.

Packard, Vance (1958). Die geheimen Verführer. Der Begriff nach dem Unbewussten in Jedermann. Düsseldorf: Econ.

Peräkylä, Anssi & Ruusuvuori, Johanna (2006). Facial expression in an assessment. Facial expression in psychology. In Hubert Knoblauch, Bernt Schnettler, Jürgen Raab & Hans-Georg Soeffner (Eds.), *Video analysis: Methodology and methods. Qualitative audiovisual data analysis in sociology* (pp 127-142). Frankfurt a. Main: Lang.

Pfadenhauer, Michaela (2001). Was andere Augen sehen. Perspektiven der Rezeption des Techno-Videoclips "Sonic Empire". In Ronald Hitzler & Michaela Pfadenhauer (Eds.), *Techno-Soziologie. Erkundungen einer Jugendkultur* (pp.235-252). Opladen: Leske+Budrich.

Pink, Sarah (2001). More visualising, more methodologies: On video, reflexivity and qualitative research. *Sociological Review*, 49(1), 586-599.

Pink, Sarah (2007). Doing visual ethnography. Images, media and representation in research (2nd ed.). London: Sage.

Piore, Michael J. & Sabel, Charles F. (1989). Das Ende der Massenproduktion. Studie über die Requalifizierung der Arbeit und die Rückkehr der Ökonomie in die Gesellschaft. Frankfurt a. Main: Fischer

Pittinger, Robert E.; Hockett, Charles F. & Danehy, John J. (1960). The first five minutes: A sample of microscopic interview analysis. Ithaca, NY: Paul Martineau.

Postman, Neil (1985). Wir amüsieren uns zu Tode. Urteilsbildung im Zeitalter der Unterhaltungsindustrie. Frankfurt a. Main: Fischer.

Raab, Jürgen (2001). Medialisierung, Bildästhetik, Vergemeinschaftung. Ansätze einer visuellen Soziologie am Beispiel von Amateurclubvideos. In Thomas Knieper & Marion G. Müller (Eds.), Kommunikation visuell. Das Bild als Forschungsgegenstand—Grundlagen und Perspektiven (pp.37-63). Köln: van Halem.

Raab, Jürgen (2002). "Der schönste Tag des Lebens" und seine Überhöhung in einem eigenwilligen Medium. Videoanalyse und sozialwissenschaftliche Hermeneutik am Beispiel eines professionellen Hochzeitsvideofilms. Sozialer Sinn. Zeitschrift für hermeneutische Sozialforschung, 3, 469-495.

Raab, Jürgen (2007). Die "Objektivität" des Sehens als wissenssoziologisches Problem. Sozialer Sinn. Zeitschrift für hermeneutische Sozialforschung, 2, 287-304.

Raab, Jürgen (2008). Visuelle Wissenssoziologie. Theoretische Konzeption und materiale Analysen. Konstanz: UVK.

Raab, Jürgen, & Tänzler, Dirk (1999). Charisma der Macht und charismatische Herrschaft. Zur medialen Präsentation Mussolinis und Hitlers. In Anne Honer, Ronald Kurt & <u>Jo Reichertz</u> (Eds.), *Diesseitsreligion. Zur Deutung der Bedeutung moderner Kultur* (pp.59-77). Konstanz: UVK.

Raab, Jürgen & Tänzler, Dirk (2002). Politik im/als Clip. Zur soziokulturellen Funktion politischer Werbespots. In Herbert Willems (Ed.), *Die Gesellschaft der Werbung. Kontexte und Texte; Produktionen und Rezeptionen; Entwicklungen und Perspektiven* (pp.217-246). Wiesbaden: Westdeutscher Verlag.

Raab, Jürgen & Tänzler, Dirk (2006). Video-hermeneutics. In Hubert Knoblauch, Bernt Schnettler, Jürgen Raab & Hans-Georg Soeffner (Eds.), Video analysis: Methodology and methods. Qualitative audiovisual data analysis in sociology (pp.85-97). Frankfurt a. Main: Lang.

Raab, Jürgen & Soeffner, Hans-Georg (2008). Politik im Film. Über die Präsentation der Macht und die Macht der Präsentation. In Markus Schroer (Ed.), *Gesellschaft im Film* (pp.171-197). Konstanz: UVK.

Raab, Jürgen; Grunert, Manfred & Lustig, Sylvia (2001). Der Körper als Darstellungsmittel. Die theatrale Inszenierung von Politik am Beispiel Benito Mussolini. In Erika Fischer-Lichte, Christian Horn & Matthias Warstat (Eds.), *Verkörperung* (pp.171-198). Tübingen: Francke.

Rammert, Werner & Schubert, Cornelius (2006). *Technographie. Zur Mikrosoziologie der Technik.* Frankfurt a. Main: Campus.

Rammert, Werner & Schulz-Schaeffer, Ingo (2002). Technik und Handeln. Wenn soziales Handeln sich auf menschliches Verhalten und technische Abläufe verteilt. In Werner Rammert & Ingo Schulz-Schaeffer (Eds.), Können Maschinen denken? Soziologische Beiträge zum Verhältnis von Mensch und Technik (pp.11-64). Frankfurt a. Main: Campus.

Reichertz, Jo (1994). Selbstgefälliges zum Anziehen. Benetton äußert sich zu den Zeichen der Zeit. In Norbert Schröer (Ed.), *Interpretative Sozialforschung. Auf dem Weg zu einer hermeneutischen Wissenssoziologie* (pp.253-280). Opladen: Westdeutscher Verlag.

Reichertz, Jo (2000). Die Frohe Botschaft des Fernsehens. Kulturwissenschaftliche Untersuchungen medialer Diesseitsreligion. Konstanz: UVK.

Reichertz, Jo (2001). The Raving Camera oder: Die Dekonstruktion eines Events. In Hitzler Ronald & Michaela Pfadenhauer (Eds.), *Techno-Soziologie. Erkundungen einer Jugendkultur* (pp.253-262). Opladen: Leske+Budrich.

Rössler, Patrick (1988). Dallas und Schwarzwaldklinik. Eine Programmstudie über Seifenopern im deutschen Fernsehen. München: Fischer.

Rose, Diana (2000). Analysis of moving pictures. In Martin W. Bauer & George Gaskell (Eds.), *Qualitative researching with text, image, and sound. A practical handbook* (pp.246-262). London: Sage

Rose, Gilian (2007). Visual methodologies. An introduction to the interpretation of visual materials (2nd ed.). London: Sage.

Rusinow, Irving (1942). A camera report on El Cerrito. A typical Spanish-American community in New Mexico. Washington: United States Government Printing Office.

Sacks, Harvey (1992). *Lectures on conversation* (edited by Gail Jefferson and Emanuel A. Schegloff). Oxford: Blackwell.

Sacks, Harvey; Schegloff, Emanuel & Jefferson, Gail (1973). A simplest systematics for the organization of turn-taking for conversation. *Language*, *50*, 696-735.

Schändlinger, Robert (1998). *Erfahrungsbilder. Visuelle Soziologie und dokumentarischer Film.* Konstanz: UVK.

Schmid, Sigrid (2006). Video analysis in qualitative market research—from viscous reality to catchy footage. In Hubert Knoblauch, Bernt Schnettler, Jürgen Raab & Hans-Georg Soeffner (Eds.), *Video analysis: Methodology and methods. Qualitative audiovisual data analysis in sociology* (pp.191-201). Frankfurt a. Main: Lang.

Schnettler, Bernt (2001). Vision und Performanz. Zur soziolinguistischen Gattungsanalyse fokussierter ethnographischer Daten. *Sozialer Sinn. Zeitschrift für hermeneutische Sozialforschung*, *1*, 143-163.

Schnettler, Bernt & Hubert Knoblauch (Eds.) (2007). Powerpoint-Präsentationen. Neue Formen der gesellschaftlichen Kommunikation von Wissen, Konstanz: UVK.

Schubert, Cornelius (2002). Making interaction and interactivity visible. On the practical and analytical uses of audiovisual recordings in high-tech and high-risk work situations. *Working Paper 5. Technical University Berlin*.

Schubert, Cornelius (2006a). Video-analysis of practice and the practice of video-analysis. In Hubert Knoblauch, Bernt Schnettler, Jürgen Raab & Hans-Georg Soeffner (Eds.), *Video analysis: Methodology and methods. Qualitative audiovisual data analysis in sociology* (pp.115-126). Frankfurt a. Main: Lang.

Schubert, Cornelius (2006b). Videographie im OP: Wie Videotechnik für technografische Studien im OP genutzt werden kann. In Werner Rammert & Cornelius Schubert (Eds.), *Technografie. Zur Mikrosoziologie der Technik* (pp.223-248). Frankfurt: Campus.

Schubert, Cornelius (2006c). *Die Praxis der Apparatemedizin. Ärzte und Technik im Operationssaal.* Frankfurt a. Main: Campus.

Secrist, Cory; De Koeyer, Ilse; Bell, Holly & Fogel, Alan (2002). Combining digital video technology and narrative methods for understanding infant development. Forum Qualitative Social Research, 3(2), Art. 24, <a href="http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fgs0202245">http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fgs0202245</a> [Date of access: 8/29/2008].

Silverman, David (2005). Instances or sequences? Improving the state of the art of qualitative research. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 6(3), Art. 30, <a href="http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fgs0503301">http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fgs0503301</a> [Date of access: 8/29/2008].

Smith, Richard L.; Mcphail, Clark & Pickens, Robert G. (1975). Reactivity to systematic observation with film: A Field Experiment. *Sociometry*, *38*(4), 536-550.

Soeffner, Hans-Georg (2000). Sich verlieren im Rundblick. Die "Panoramakunst" als Vorstufe zum medialen Panoramenmosaik der Gegenwart. In Hans-Georg Soeffner, *Gesellschaft ohne Baldachin* (pp.354-370). Weilerswist: Velbrück.

Soeffner, Hans-Georg (2001). Authentizitätsfallen und mediale Verspiegelungen. Inszenierungen im 20. Jahrhundert. In Erika Fischer-Lichte (Ed.), *Symposiumsband "Theatralität und die Krisen der Repräsentation"* (pp.165-176). Stuttgart: Metzler.

Soeffner, Hans-Georg & Raab, Jürgen (2004). Sehtechniken. Die Medialisierung des Sehens: Schnitt und Montage als Ästhetisierungsmittel medialer Kommunikation. In Hans-Georg Soeffner, Auslegung des Alltags—Der Alltag der Auslegung. Zur wissenssoziologischen Konzeption einer sozialwissenschaftlichen Hermeneutik (2nd ed., pp.254-284). Konstanz: UTB.

Stasz, Clarice (1979). The early history of visual sociology. In Jon C. Wagner (Ed.), *Images of information*. *Still photography in the social sciences* (pp.119-136). London: Sage.

Stephens, Mitchell (1998). *The rise of the image and the fall of the word.* New York: Oxford University Press.

Sturken, Marita & Cartwright, Lisa (2001). *Practices of looking. An introduction to visual culture*. New York: Oxford University Press.

Stumberger, Rudolf (2007). Klassen-Bilder. Sozialdokumentarische Fotografie 1900-1945, Konstanz: UVK.

Suchman, Lucy & Trigg, Randall H. (1991). Understanding practice: Video as a medium for reflection and design. In Joan Greenbaum & Morton Kyng (Eds.), *Design at work. Cooperative design of computer systems* (pp.65-89). Hillsdale: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Tänzler, Dirk (2000). Das ungewohnte Medium. Hitler und Roosevelt im Film. Sozialer Sinn. Zeitschrift für hermeneutische Sozialforschung, 1, 93-120.

Tänzler, Dirk (2001). Ritual und Medium. Zur filmischen Inszenierung politischer Reden Hitlers und Roosevelts. In Erika Fischer-Lichte, Christian Horn, Sandra Umathum & Matthias Warstat (Eds.), Wahrnehmung und Medialität (pp.105-125). Stuttgart: Metzler.

Taureg, Martin (1984). Für die Entwicklung der Visuellen Anthropologie. Ein Aufruf zur Diskussion und Mitarbeit. Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie, 36(2), 426-428.

Taureg, Martin (1986). Visuelle Soziologie—Ein neues Fachgebiet. Film Theory, 13, 3-5.

Teckenburg, Wolfgang (1982). Bildwirklichkeit und soziale Wirklichkeit. Der Einsatz von Fotos in der Soziologie. *Soziale Welt*, 33(2), 169-207.

Theye, Thomas (1989). *Der geraubte Schatten. Die Photographie als ethnographisches Dokument.* München: Bucher.

Tykwer, Jörg (1992). Distanz und Nähe: zur sozialen Konstruktion ästhetischer Erfahrung. Eine soziologische Sinnexplikation der ersten Szenen des Spielfilms "Rote Sonne". Frankfurt a. Main: Dissertation.

Virilio, Paul (1989). Die Sehmaschine. Berlin: Merve.

Virilio, Paul (1996). *Die Eroberung des Körpers. Vom Übermenschen zum überreizten Menschen.* Frankfurt a. Main: Fischer.

vom Lehn, Dirk (2006). Die Kunst der Kunstbetrachtung: Aspekte einer Pragmatischen Ästhetik in Kunstausstellungen. *Soziale Welt*, *57*(1), 83-100.

Wagner-Willi, Monika (2006). On the multidimensional analysis of video-data. Documentary interpretation of interaction in schools. In Hubert Knoblauch, Bernt Schnettler, Jürgen Raab & Hans-Georg Soeffner (Eds.), *V Video analysis: Methodology and methods. Qualitative audiovisual data analysis in sociology* (pp.143-153). Frankfurt a. Main: Lang.

Walker, John A. & Chaplin, Sarah (1997). The concept of the visual. In John A. Walker & Sarah Chaplin (Eds.), *Visual culture—An introduction* (pp.18-30). Manchester: Manchester University Press.

Walker, Natalie (1915). Chicago housing conditions. Greeks and Italians in the neighbourhood of Hull House. *American Journal of Sociology*, *XXI*(3), 285-316.

Weibel, Peter (1987). Die Beschleunigung der Bilder. In der Chronokratie. Bern: Benteli.

Weibel, Peter (1993). Über die Grenzen des Realen. Der Blick und das Interface. In Gerhard J. Lischka (Ed.), *Der entfesselte Blick* (pp.219-245). Bern: Benteli.

Willems, Herbert (1999). Zur Eigenlogik, zu den Strukturbedingungen und zum Wandel der Werbung als medienkommunikativer Gattung. Österreichische Zeitschrift für Soziologie, 24(2), 24-55.

Woodhead, Howard (1904). The first German municipal exposition. *American Journal of Sociology*, *IX*(4), 433-458.

Wuggenig, Ulf (1990/91). Die Photobefragung als projektives Verfahren. *Angewandte Sozialforschung*, 16 (1-2), 109-129.

Wulf, Christoph; Althans, Birgit; Audehm, Kathrin; Bausch, Constance; Göhlich, Michael; Sting, Stephan; Tervooren, Anja; Wagner-Willi, Monika & Zirfas, Jörg (2001). *Das Soziale als Ritual. Zur perfomativen Bildung von Gemeinschaften*. Opladen: Leske+Budrich.

### **Authors**

Bernt SCHNETTLER is Assistant Professor at the Technische Universität Berlin.

Contact:

Bernt Schnettler

Institut für Soziologie Fachgebiet Allgemeine Soziologie und Theorie Moderner Gesellschaften

Franklinstr. 28/29, D-10587 Berlin

Germany

Tel.: ++ 49 30 314 798 50 Fax: ++ 49 30 314 794 94

E-mail: <u>bernt.Schnettler@tu-berlin.de</u> URL: <u>http://www.berntschnettler.de/</u>

FQS 9(3), Art. 31, Bernt Schnettler & Jürgen Raab: Interpretative Visual Analysis Developments, State of the Art and Pending Problems

Jürgen RAAB is Professor at the Universität Luzern, Switzerland and the University of Konstanz, Germany.

Contact: Jürgen Raab

Kultur- und Sozialwissenschaftliche Fakultät

Soziologisches Seminar

Kasernenplatz 3, CH-6000 Luzern 7

Switzerland

Tel.: ++ 41 41 228 70 22 Fax: ++ 41 41 228 73 77

E-mail: <u>Juergen.raab@unilu.ch</u> URL: http://www.unilu.ch/

# Citation

Schnettler, Bernt & Raab, Jürgen (2008). Interpretative Visual Analysis. Developments, State of the Art and Pending Problems [45 paragraphs]. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 9(3), Art. 31, http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs0803314.